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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA
LAKE CHARLES DIVISION

HARRELL HOWARD, Individually and On * CASE NO.: 2:19-cv-1155
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated

Plaintiff,
versus

FLEETWOOD TRANSPORTATION
SERVICES, INC.

COLLECTIVE ACTION

ESE S R S R S SR SR

Defendant.

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT
SUMMARY

1. Fleetwood Transportation Services, Inc. (“Defendant”) employs truck drivers to
pick up wood chips from mills to deliver to local paper mills.

2. Although these drivers regularly work more than forty (40) hours in a workweek,
Defendant does not pay them overtime.

3. Defendant’s policy of not paying these employees overtime wages violates the Fair
Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”).

4. This collective action seeks to recover the unpaid wages, liquidated damages and
other damages owed to these drivers, together with attorneys’ fees, interest and costs of these
proceedings.

JURISDICTION & VENUE
5. This case raises a federal question under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), giving this Court

original subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.
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6. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) because Defendant
conducts substantial business in this District, sending Plaintiff and FLSA Collective members to
perform work in this District while subjecting them to Defendant’s improper and illegal payroll
practices.

PARTIES

7. Harrell Howard (“Plaintiff”’) was employed by Defendant as a truck driver and was
paid a piece-rate. Plaintiff is domiciled in Louisiana and picked up wood chips from mills in
Louisiana and delivered those loads to paper mills in Louisiana.

8. Plaintiff’s assigned routes were intrastate within Louisiana. Plaintiff did not
receive or deliver products outside the State of Louisiana.

9. Plaintiff’s written consent to join this action is attached. (Exhibit “A”).

10. Upon information and belief, Defendant is a Texas corporation not authorized to
do but doing business in the State of Louisiana.

11. Defendant may be served through its registered agent, Harry H. Lynch, 1845
Woodall Rodgers Freeway, Suite 1600, Dallas, Texas 75201.

12. Defendant paid each of the FLSA Collective members a piece-rate, salary or hourly
wage with no overtime premium for hours worked in excess of forty (40) in a workweek.

13. Defendant’s payroll practice, and classification of these workers as overtime

exempt, violated the FLSA.
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FACTS
14. Defendant is in the business of hauling forest products, including wood chips, from
various mills and delivering them to local paper mills.!
15. Defendant’s Forest Products Division conducts business throughout Texas,
Louisiana, Arkansas and Mississippi.
16. Defendant employed drivers like Plaintiff to pick up wood chips from mills in
Florien, Louisiana (“Florien”) and Oakdale, Louisiana (“Oakdale”), and deliver the wood chips to

a paper mill in Deridder, Louisiana (“Deridder”).

17. The wood chips were converted to paper products after delivery to the Deridder
paper mill.
18. Upon information and belief, Defendant has other forest product operations in

Texas, Louisiana, Arkansas and Mississippi which all operate in a similar manner.
19. Defendant’s employees routinely handle goods or materials — such as trucks, tires,

trailers and Zonar tracking devices - that have moved in, or were produced for, interstate

commerce.

20. In each of the past three years, Defendant’s gross revenue has far exceeded
$500,000.

21. Drivers in the Louisiana Forest Products Division delivered loads of wood chips

and other tree material from mills in Louisiana to other locations within the state to be processed

and converted into various paper products.

1 http://www.ftwd.net/divisions/forest-products (last visited on 8/26/2019).
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22. Numerous other Truck Drivers also drove intrastate routes, and delivered wood
chips from mills in Florien or Oakdale to a paper mill in Deridder to be processed and converted
into various paper products.

23. Defendant paid Plaintiff a piece-rate based on the number of loads hauled from the
mills in Florien or Oakdale to a paper mill in Deridder. For a short period of time, Plaintiff was
paid a salary.

24, Plaintiff worked for Defendant from approximately January 2019 until July 2019.

25. Plaintiff was regularly scheduled to work over forty (40) hours in a workweek.
Plaintiff’s usual daily work shift was from 1:00 p.m. until 1:00 a.m., and later changed to 4:00
p-m. until 4:00 a.m. Plaintiff worked five (5) to six (6) days per week.

26. For example, Plaintiff worked in excess of forty (40) hours during the week of
March 30, 2019 to April 5, 2019. Although Plaintiff worked overtime during this period, he was
paid solely on his piece-rate of $59.16 per load or $57.61 per load. He was not paid an overtime
premium for the hours worked in excess of forty (40) during that workweek.

217. An employer can pay a non-exempt employee on a piece-rate basis provided the
employee receives overtime pay for hours worked in excess of forty (40) in a workweek, which
Defendant did not pay. 29 C.F.R. § 778.111

28. Plaintiff’s work schedule is typical of the work schedule for the FLSA Collective
members.

29. Over the past three (3) years, Defendant employed dozens of individuals —
including Plaintiff — as intrastate truck drivers hauling loads of wood chips between wood mills

and paper mills within the same state.
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30. The FLSA Collective members are not exempt from the overtime requirements of
the FLSA.

31. While the precise job duties of the FLSA Collective members may vary somewhat,
any variations do not impact their entitlement to overtime for hours worked in excess of forty (40)
in a workweek.

32. All of the FLSA Collective members perform manual labor in support of
Defendant’s forest products operation.

33. All of the FLSA Collective members are entitled to overtime pay.

34, None of the FLSA Collective members received overtime pay.

35. Defendant knows the FLSA Collective members worked more than forty (40) hours
in a workweek.

36. Defendant routinely scheduled Plaintiff and other FLSA Collective members to
work more than forty (40) hours per workweek.

37. Defendant knows the FLSA Collective members were not exempt from the
overtime requirements of the FLSA.

38. Nonetheless, Defendant did not (and does not) pay the FLSA Collective members
overtime wages for hours worked in excess of forty (40) in a workweek.

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS
39. Plaintiff brings this claim under Section 216(b) of the FLSA as a collective action.
40. The same policy that caused Plaintiff to be denied his overtime pay caused the

FLSA Collective members to be denied their overtime pay.
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41. While the precise job duties performed by the FLSA Collective members might
vary somewhat, these differences do not matter for the purpose of determining their entitlement to
overtime.

42. Nor do any differences in job duties matter for determining whether Defendant’s
policy of not paying the FLSA Collective members overtime is legal.

43. The members of the FLSA Collective are all entitled to overtime for all hours
worked over forty (40) in a workweek consistent with the overtime requirements of the FLSA.

44. Because Defendant uniformly failed to pay overtime to the FLSA Collective
members, Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members are similarly situated within the meaning of
29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

45. Upon information and belief, Defendant employed numerous truck drivers who
were paid hourly, salary or piece-rate, like Plaintiff, in the United States during the past three (3)
years.

46. Nearly all of the questions related to Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members
can be answered on a collective basis.

47. Defendant’s practice of not paying members of the FLSA Collective overtime
wages is based on established companywide policies.

48. Defendant’s payroll and time-keeping records would permit accurate calculation of
damages with respect to each member of the FLSA Collective.

49. Absent a collective action, many members of the FLSA Collective likely will not
obtain redress of their injuries and Defendant will retain the proceeds of its violations of the FLSA.

50. Furthermore, individual litigation would be unduly burdensome to the judicial

system.
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51. Concentrating the litigation in one forum will promote judicial economy and parity
among the claims of individual members of the FLSA Collective and provide for judicial
consistency.

COLLECTIVE DEFINITION

52. Plaintiff brings this lawsuit pursuant to Section 216(b) of the FLSA as a collective
action on behalf of:

All truck drivers employed by Fleetwood Transportation Services,
Inc. who, within the last three (3) years, only drove intrastate routes

between mills in the same state, worked over forty (40) hours in a
workweek and were not paid overtime.

VIOLATION OF THE FLSA
53. Plaintiff incorporates the proceeding paragraphs by reference.
54. At all relevant times, Defendant has been an employer engaged in interstate

commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of the FLSA.

54. Defendant employed Plaintiff and each member of the FLSA Collective.

55. Defendant’s pay policy denied Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA Collective
overtime compensation as required by the FLSA.

56. Defendant’s failure to pay Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members overtime at
rates not less than one and one-half times their regular rates violates 29 U.S.C. § 207.

57. Defendant’s conduct, as described herein, was in willful violation of the FLSA.

58. Due to Defendant’s FLSA violations, Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members
are entitled to recover from Defendant their unpaid overtime compensation, liquidated damages,
reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs of this action.

RECORDKEEPING VIOLATION

59. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs by reference.

7
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60. By failing to accurately record, report, and/or preserve records of hours worked by
Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective, Defendant has failed to make, keep, and preserve records with
respect to each of its employees sufficient to determine their wages, hours, and other conditions
and practice of employment, in violation of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, ef seq.

PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Harrell Howard, prays for relief as follows:

1. An order designating this lawsuit as a collective action and authorizing notice
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) to the FLSA Collective members to permit them to join this action
by filing a written notice of consent;

2. Judgment awarding Plaintiff and the other FLSA Collective members all unpaid
overtime compensation, liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees and costs under the FLSA;

3. Pre- and post-judgment interest at the highest rate allowable by law; and

4. All such other and further relief to which Plaintiff and the other FLSA Collective
may show themselves to be justly entitled.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff, Harrell Howard, demands trial by jury on all issues so triable as a matter of right

by jury.
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Dated: September 4, 2019 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Philip Bohrer

Philip Bohrer

Scott E. Brady

Amanda E. McGowen
BOHRER BRADY, LLC
8712 Jefferson Highway, Suite B
Baton Rouge, LA 70809
Telephone: (225) 925-5297
Facsimile: (225) 231-7000
phil @bohrerbrady.com
scott@bohrerbrady.com
amcgowen @bohrerbrady.com
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EXHIBIT “A”
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DocuSign Envelope ID: EGEOF3E3-64AB-42B1-A447-3E512B4C9F38

FLEETWOOD TRANSPORTATION, INC.
PLAINTIFF CONSENT FORM

1. I consent to make a claim under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. against
my current/former employer, Fleetwood Transportation, Inc., and any other related entities,
owners or affiliates (“Defendant”), to recover overtime pay and unpaid wages.

2. Idesignate Bohrer Brady, LLC as my attorneys to pursue my claims in this matter.

3. During the past three years, there were occasions when I worked over 40 hours per week for
Defendant, and did not receive proper compensation for my overtime hours worked.

DocuSigned by:
6/25/2019 E D)

BAEOBTAIIB2T4AL...
Signature

Date:

Harrell Howard

Print Name

Information Below Will Be Redacted in Filings with the Court. Please Print or Type.

City, State Zip:
Best Phone Number(s):

Address:

Email:

BOHRER BRADY, LLC

Fax: (225) 231-7000

8712 Jefferson Highway, Suite B
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70809
Email: info@bohrerbrady,com



Case 2:19-cv-01155 Document 1-2 Filed 09/04/19 Page 1 of 1 PagelD #: 12
CIVIL COVER SHEET

JS44 (Rev.02/19)

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing

and service of pleadings or other papers as reguired by law, except as

provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I (a) PLAINTIFFS

HARRELL HOWARD, individually and on behalf of others similarly

situated

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Vernon Parish (La)
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

Ph(lfljp ohrer, Scott E.

ttomeys (Firm Name, Address, and Teleph
rady, Amanda

DEFENDANTS

one Number)
E. McGowen

Bohrer Brady, LLC, 8712 Jefferson Hwy, Suite B, Baton Rouge, LA

70809; (225) 925-5297

Attomeys (If Known)

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant

FLEETWOOD TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC.

Angelina (TX)

{IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

D.

NOTE: [N LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVE
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Western District of Louisiana

HARRELL HOWARD, individually and on behalf of
others similarly situated

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No. 2:19-cv-1155

FLEETWOOD TRANSPORTATION SERVICES,
INC.

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) FLEETWOOD TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC.
through its agent:
Harry H. Lynch
1845 Woodall Rodgers Freeway, Suite 1600
Dallas, TX 75201

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Philip Bohrer

Bohrer Brady, LLC
8712 Jefferson Highway, Suite B
Baton Rouge, LA 70809

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 2:19-cv-1155

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) , or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 I served the summons on (name of individual) , who 18

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
3 I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
(3 Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:



